WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT NO. 44168.2

GLINSKI LAW FIRM PLLC

Manchester, WA 98353

P.O. Box 761

(360) 876-2736

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
V
JESUS SOLIS-VAZQUEZ,
Petitioner.
SCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPE DIVISION TWO
Court of Appeals No. 47593-6-II Cowlitz County No. 14-1-01468-3

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, JESUS SOLIS-VAZQUEZ, by and through his attorney, CATHERINE E. GLINSKI, requests the relief designated in part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Solis-Vazquez seeks review of the January 24, 2017 unpublished decision of Division Two of the Court of Appeals affirming his convictions and sentence and remanding for reinstatement of firearm enhancements.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Solis-Vazquez was charged with possession of methamphetamine with intent to deliver after methamphetamine was discovered in a car in which he was a passenger. Over defense objection a law enforcement officer testified that he believed everyone in the car knew about the drugs. Where Solis-Vazquez testified that he did not know about the drugs and was only in the car because he needed a ride, did the officer's opinion as to his credibility or guilt violate his right to a jury trial?
- 2. The jury returned special verdicts finding that Solis-Vazquez or an accomplice was armed with firearms during commission of the drug offense. Where the jury did not unanimously agree that appellant

was in possession of a firearm and there was no evidence that he and the other occupants of the car where the firearms were found were accomplices, must the firearm enhancements based on the special verdicts be vacated?

3. This Court should review the issues raised in Solis-Vazquez's statement of additional grounds for review.

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

On the evening of December 12, 2014, law enforcement officers were working DUI emphasis patrols in Cowlitz County. RP 71, 127, 324. Deputy Brady Spaulding noticed a vehicle with a headlight out, and he pulled it over. When the car stopped, Spaulding saw the driver and front seat passenger switch seats. RP 151, 324-25. Spaulding found that concerning, and he radioed for other units to assist. RP 72, 327. When Spaulding approached the car, Evan Hadlock, who had been driving, was in the passenger seat, and Vanessa Slape was in the driver's seat. RP 325. Spaulding asked them for identification. RP 327.

Jesus Solis-Vazquez was sitting in the back seat behind the driver. Spaulding noticed that Solis-Vazquez was not wearing a seatbelt, so he asked for his identification too. RP 328. Solis-Vazquez gave Spaulding a Mexican passport in the name of Genaro Padraza-Martinez, which he used for work. RP 328-29, 501. The man sitting in the back passenger-side

seat was not identified, but Solis-Vazquez referred to him as Delo. RP 496.

Spaulding ran the identifications and learned that Hadlock had a suspended license, and he returned to the car to arrest Hadlock. RP 151, 330. When Spaulding opened the passenger door, he saw a short barrel pistol grip shotgun on the floorboard between the door and the passenger seat. RP 114, 152, 331. Hadlock reached for the gun, and Spaulding stomped on his hand to prevent him from grabbing it. RP 115, 332. The other officers drew their weapons, and one of them removed the shotgun. RP 152-53, 332. Hadlock and Slape were removed from the car and taken into custody. RP 120-22.

In the meantime, Solis-Vazquez and Delo were ordered to keep their hands up as they waited in the back seat. RP 115, 156. When Officer Jeffrey Gann arrived, he covered Solis-Vazquez, with his weapon drawn, from about five feet away. RP 73-74, 99. Solis-Vazquez had his hands up, but he brought them down toward his lap. Gann ordered him to keep his hands up, but he brought them down at least two more times. RP 75. Solis-Vazquez did not appear to be leaning forward or moving his shoulders and could have just been resting his hands on his legs or on the car seat in front of him. RP 102, 134, 196-97, 228, 521.

As an officer removed Delo from the passenger side, Solis-Vazquez jumped from the driver's side of the car and started running. RP 76, 161. He struggled and fought with officers in an attempt to avoid being taken into custody, but he was eventually subdued with a vascular neck restraint and placed in handcuffs. RP 77-87, 335-36. Delo also broke free and ran, but he was not captured. RP 124-25, 218. An officer who searched the area where Delo was last seen found two plastic bags, each containing 25.4 grams of methamphetamine. RP 224, 236, 261.

Slape consented to a search of the car. Spaulding recovered a Kel-Tec semiautomatic pistol under the front passenger seat, several rounds of .38 special ammunition from the back seat, a Springfield XD pistol and ammunition in a case behind the front passenger seat, and a Ruger LCR .38 caliber revolver in a paper bag on the floor in the back passenger-side area. RP 172-74, 342-46. Spaulding also found two ball-shaped plastic bags containing methamphetamine under the driver's seat, weighing a total of 61.4 grams. RP 265, 347-48. When he located the drugs, Spaulding stopped the search and obtained a warrant. RP 348. A later search turned up two baggies with crystal residue in the dashboard ashtray. RP 363.

Once Solis-Vazquez was taken into custody, an officer searched him incident to arrest and found \$1933 in cash. RP 94-95. Solis-Vazquez

had no weapons or other contraband in his possession. RP 107. After he was advised of his rights, Solis-Vazquez told the officer that he had fought because he did nothing wrong and did not want to go to jail. RP 96. He also said he did not know about the guns in the car. RP 96.

At trial the State presented testimony from a Longview Police Officer who used to serve on the drug task force. RP 276. He testified that local dealers purchase methamphetamine in one-ounce packages, which they then break down and sell to users in 1/8 ounce or 1/16 ounce quantities. RP 288. An ounce would sell for between \$600 and \$1000. RP 289. In his opinion, it is unlikely that a bag containing an ounce of methamphetamine would be for personal use. RP 292. He also testified that drug transactions commonly occur in vehicles, and it can be common for guns to be involved in drug transactions. RP 297, 300.

Solis-Vazquez testified that he lives in Oregon, but he was in Cowlitz County that day visiting a friend. RP 492-93. Solis-Vazquez did not own a car, and he needed to get a ride home, so he contacted Delo, with whom he had become friends on Facebook. RP 493-94. Delo agreed to give him a ride, and they met at a restaurant. Delo was riding in the back seat of a car, and a man and woman Solis-Vazquez had never met before were in the front. RP 495-97. Solis-Vazquez sat in the back seat behind the driver, and Delo sat next to him. RP 498. Before taking Solis-

Vazquez where he needed to go, they stopped at a house. Solis-Vazquez followed Delo inside and waited for about 15 minutes while Delo was in the bathroom with some other people. RP 498-99. Solis-Vazquez did not see any guns or drugs while he was there. RP 499. Shortly after they left the house, the car was stopped by police. Solis-Vazquez was not aware of any guns or drugs in the car either. RP 500.

Solis-Vazquez testified that when he was asked for identification, he gave police the Mexican passport, even though he knew it was not a real passport. RP 500-01. Solis-Vazquez testified that he used the name Genaro Padraza-Martinez for work, and he presented his most recent paystub as evidence. RP 502. After he gave police the passport, Solis-Vazquez became afraid they would find out it was a fake name, and he thought he would get in trouble. He was also very scared when the officers drew their weapons after finding the shotgun. RP 502-03. Solis-Vazquez testified that he did not know the shotgun or any other gun was in the car, and he had never been in the car before that day because he did not know Hadlock or Slape. RP 503. He denied moving around in the car or discarding or hiding anything after police drew their weapons. RP 503-04.

Because he was scared and believed he would be arrested for using a false passport, Solis-Vazquez ran when he saw an opportunity. RP 506.

He acknowledged that, as he was trying to escape, he moved around frantically and it was possible he struck one of the officers. RP 507-08.

Solis-Vazquez testified that the money Spaulding found in his wallet was his savings from working construction, not from selling drugs.

RP 509-10. He was not working with anyone in the car to deliver drugs.

He was just in the car for a ride. RP 515.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. THE IMPROPER ADMISSION OF A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER'S OPINION AS TO GUILT AND CREDIBILITY VIOLATED SOLIS-VAZQUEZ'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL AND REQUIRES REVERSAL.

Deputy Spaulding testified that all three people who had been taken into custody were charged with possession of methamphetamine. RP 456. The prosecutor asked Spaulding if he believed they were accomplices, and Spaulding answered that he did. RP 457. Defense counsel objected that the question called for a legal conclusion and moved to strike Spaulding's answer. The court sustained the objection, telling the prosecutor to rephrase. RP 457. The prosecutor then asked, "What did you believe about the three people in the car?" Defense counsel again objected as to foundation and that the question called for a narrative, but the court overruled. RP 457. Spaulding testified that he believed they had knowledge of the drugs in the car. RP 457-58.

It is well established that a witness may not offer an opinion as to the defendant's guilt, either by direct statement or by inference. State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 591, 183 P.3d 267 (2008); State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987); State v. Hudson, 150 Wn. App. 646, 208 P.3d 1236, 1239 (2009). Further, "[g]enerally, no witness may offer testimony in the form of an opinion regarding the veracity of the defendant. Such testimony is unfairly prejudicial to the defendant because it invades the exclusive province of the jury." State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 927, 155 P.3d 125 (2007) (citing State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 759, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001)). Improper opinion testimony violates the defendant's constitutional right to a jury trial, because the questions of guilt and veracity are reserved solely for the jury. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d at 590; State v. Dolan, 118 Wn. App. 323, 329, 73 P.3d 1011 (2003). Thus, an explicit or nearly explicit opinion on the defendant's guilt or credibility can constitute a manifest constitutional error, which may be challenged for the first time on appeal. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 936; RAP 2.5(a).

Courts have recognized that some areas are clearly inappropriate for opinion testimony in criminal trials, including personal opinions as to the guilt of the defendant and the intent of the accused. <u>State v. Quaale</u>, 182 Wn.2d 191, 200, 340 P.3d 213 (2014); <u>Montgomery</u>, 163 Wn.2d at

591; Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 759. In Quaale, the defendant was charged with felony driving under the influence. The trooper who pulled him over conducted a Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test, and over defense objection, he was permitted to testify he had no doubt defendant was impaired based on that test. Quaale, 182 Wn.2d at 194-95. This Court held that this testimony from the trooper constituted an improper opinion on guilt by inference because it went to the core issue and only disputed element, whether the defendant drove while under the influence. <u>Id</u>. at 200. The improper opinion on guilt violated the defendant's constitutional right to have a fact critical to his guilt determined by the jury. <u>Id</u>. at 201-02.

Here, as in Quaale, improper opinion evidence denied Solis-Vazquez his right to a jury determination of a critical element of the charged crimes. Deputy Spaulding's testimony that he believed everyone in the car had knowledge of the drugs informed the jury that he had concluded Solis-Vazquez and the others were accomplices in an intended drug transaction and that Solis-Vazquez was lying when he denied knowing about the drugs. Spaulding's belief was not relevant to any issue and could only serve to prejudice the jury.

Admission of improper opinion evidence violates the constitutional right to a jury trial and requires reversal unless the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Dolan</u>, 118 Wn. App. at 330 (citing <u>Chapman</u>

v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967); Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 759; State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S.Ct. 1208, 89 L.Ed.2d 321 (1986)).

The danger that Spaulding's opinion improperly influenced the jury is very real. Of the four people in the car that night, Solis-Vazquez is the only one who testified. He told the jury he knew nothing about the drugs or guns in the car, he did not know Hadlock or Slape, he was not working with Delo, and he was in the car only because he needed a ride. The jury had no other direct evidence as to what any of the others knew or intended. Although the State argued that all four people in the car were working together to deliver methamphetamine, that argument rested on speculation as to several factors, including what each of them knew, when and where the drugs were obtained, and where they were heading when the car was pulled over.

The State's attempt to influence the jury with the deputy's opinion that they all knew about the drugs likely carried a lot of weight with the jury on this crucial determination. See Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 765 (testimony from law enforcement officer carries "special aura of reliability"). "Particularly where an opinion on the veracity of a defendant is expressed by a government official, such as a sheriff or a police officer,

the opinion may influence the factfinder and deny the defendant of a fair and impartial trial." State v. Notaro, 161 Wn. App. 654, 661, 255 P.3d 774 (2011) (citing Dolan, 118 Wn. App. at 329). The Court of Appeals' holding that admission of the deputy's opinion was harmless error conflicts with cases recognizing the impact of improper opinion from law enforcement officers and presents and constitutional question this Court should review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3).

2. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE FIREARM ENHANCEMENTS.

Solis-Vazquez was charged with unlawful possession of a firearm, as well as four allegations that he or an accomplice was armed with a firearm during the course of possessing methamphetamine with intent to deliver. CP 6-9. The jury did not unanimously agree that Solis-Vazquez knowingly had a firearm in his possession or under his control, and the court declared a mistrial as to the unlawful possession of a firearm charge. RP 640. In answering the special verdicts, however, the jury found that Solis-Vazquez or an accomplice was armed with each of the four firearms during the commission of the drug offense. CP 102-05.

The defense moved for arrest of judgment on the firearm enhancements. CP 106-07. The trial court found that although the evidence showed that the occupants of the front seat of the car knew about

the guns in the car, the evidence was insufficient to show that they were accomplices to the drug offense. RP 661-63. It vacated the firearm enhancements for the guns found in the front seat. RP 664. It ruled however, that the amount of cash in Solis-Vazquez's possession, the total amount of methamphetamine recovered, the ammunition on the back seat, the fact that the occupants of the car reached down even when the police drew their guns, and the fact that both Solis-Vazquez and Delo ran were sufficient to support the firearm enhancements for the guns in the back of the car. RP 662-63.

The State has the burden of proving every element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. 1, § 3; In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368, 90 S. Ct. 1068 (1970); State v. Crediford, 130 Wn.2d 747, 759, 927 P.2d 1129 (1996). When reviewing sufficiency issues, the appellate court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the State to determine whether any rational jury could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Asaeli, 150 Wn. App. 543, 567, 208 P.3d 1136, review denied, 167 Wn.2d 1001 (2009).

For the purposes of the firearm allegations in this case, the State had to prove that Solis-Vazquez or an accomplice was armed with a firearm at the time of the commission of the crime. RCW 9.94A.533(3);

CP 95. A person is an accomplice in a crime if, with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the crime, he solicits, commands, or encourages another person to commit the crime, or he aids or agrees to aid another person in committing the crime. RCW 9A.08.020(3). To hold someone liable as an accomplice, the State is required to prove that person actually knew he was promoting or facilitating the crime. A theory of constructive knowledge is not sufficient. State v. Allen, 182 Wn.2d 364, 374, 341 P.3d 268 (2015). A person's mere presence at the scene of a crime is also insufficient to establish accomplice liability. Asaeli, 150 Wn. App. at 569-70. The State must prove the person was ready to assist the principal in the crime and that he shared in the criminal intent of the principal, demonstrating a community of unlawful purpose. State v. Truong, 168 Wn. App. 529, 540, 277 P.3d 74, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1020 (2012).

There was no evidence demonstrating a community of unlawful purpose in this case. Although there was evidence from which the jury could find both Solis-Vazquez and Delo possessed methamphetamine, there was no evidence that they were working together to deliver it or even that they knew the other was in possession. None of the occupants of the car other than Solis-Vazquez testified. No one witnessed a drug transaction from which the jury could infer those present were working together.

There was also no evidence from which the jury could find the driver and front passenger actually knew they were promoting or facilitating the crime of possession with intent to deliver. There was no evidence of a drug transaction. Instead the car was pulled over during a DUI emphasis patrol because it was missing a headlight, Solis-Vazquez was asked for identification because he was not wearing a seatbelt, and the driver was being arrested for driving with a suspended license. RP 151, 328.

Nor would anything that occurred after the car was stopped support a finding that Hadlock and Slape were accomplices to Solis-Vazquez's charged possession of methamphetamine with intent to deliver. The evidence showed that when the car was pulled over, Hadlock and Slape switched seats, and law enforcement discovered that Hadlock, who had been driving, had a suspended license. RP 151, 325, 330. When the deputy opened the passenger door to arrest Hadlock, he saw a shotgun, and Hadlock's hand moved toward it. RP 152-53, 331-32. Another gun was found under the front passenger seat in a subsequent search. RP 342. Hadlock and Slape's actions showed they were working together to prevent Hadlock's arrest for driving with a suspended license, but there was no evidence of any communication between them and Solis-Vazquez, who was in the back seat of the car. Their mere presence in the car with

Solis-Vazquez is not sufficient to make them accomplices to the charged drug offense.

While accomplice liability may be proved by circumstantial evidence, the State cannot meet its burden through pure speculation. Allen, 182 Wn.2d at 375; State v. Prestegard, 108 Wn. App. 14, 22, 28 P.3d 817 (2001). Without evidence that Solis-Vazquez or Delo was knowingly promoting or facilitating the other's possession of methamphetamine with intent to deliver, the State can prove only that they were both present in the same vehicle. This mere presence is insufficient to establish that they were accomplices, and the firearm enhancements cannot stand. In the same way, without evidence that Hadlock and Slape knowingly promoting or facilitating the possession of methamphetamine with intent to deliver, the State can prove only that they were present in the same vehicle as Solis-Vazquez. This mere presence is insufficient to establish that they were accomplices, and the Court of Appeals erred in ordering the firearm enhancements for the guns in the front seat reinstated. The Court of Appeals' holding conflicts with the principles outlined by this Court in Allen, and the sufficiency of the evidence as to the firearm enhancements is a question of constitutional law which this Court should review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

3. THIS COURT SHOULD REVIEW ISSUES RAISED IN THE STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL GROUNDS FOR REVIEW.

Solis-Vazquez raised several arguments in his statement of additional grounds for review, which the Court of Appeals rejected.

Those arguments are incorporated herein by reference.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons discussed above, this Court should grant review and reverse Solis-Vazquez's convictions and firearm enhancements.

DATED this 23rd day of February, 2017.

Respectfully submitted,

GLINSKI LAW FIRM PLLC

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI

Cara Cilli

WSBA No. 20260

Attorney for Petitioner