RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

5/12/2017 3:41 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

SUPREME COURT NO. 94188-2 C.O.A. No. 47593-6-II Cowlitz Co. Cause NO. 14-1-01468-3

SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

JESUS SOLIS-VAZQUEZ,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN JURVAKAINEN
Prosecuting Attorney
ERIC BENTSON/WSBA#38471
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Office and P. O. Address: Hall of Justice 312 S. W. First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 Telephone: 360/577-3080

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

After the trial, Solis-Vazquez moved for arrest of judgment to set aside the verdicts on the firearm enhancements. RP at 645. The court ruled there was sufficient evidence to support the firearm enhancements with regard to the two firearms located in the back of the car, but set aside the two firearm enhancements for the firearms in the front of the car stating it "was not sure there was a sufficient connection." RP at 663-64. Solis-Vazquez appealed. The State filed a cross-appeal of the court's decision to set aside these two jury verdicts.

For the first time on appeal, Solis-Vazquez argued that Deputy Spaulding's testimony was improper opinion evidence. The Court of Appeals found that because there was overwhelming untainted evidence supporting Solis-Vazquez's convictions, if there was a manifest error it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Slip Opinion* at 7. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's motion granting arrest of judgement, finding there was substantial evidence supporting the jury's unanimous determination that the firearm enhancements applied.

V. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Because Solis-Vazquez's petition fails to raise any of the grounds governing review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied. Under RAP 13.4(b) a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Solis-Vazquez's petition fails to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' holding was in conflict with a prior case of the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court or that it presents a significant question of constitutional

law.¹ For these reasons, his petition does not meet the criteria required for review under RAP 13.4(b). Further, his claim of manifest error is unfounded because he opened the door to opinion evidence by eliciting it at trial and there is no showing the evidence had a practical, identifiable impact on the outcome of the trial.

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT OR COURT OF APPEALS OR INVOLVE A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW.

The Court of Appeals ruled consistently with existing case law and applied the correct standard of review when it found that because there was overwhelming, untainted evidence of Solis-Vazquez's guilt, if the admission of opinion evidence was manifest error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. "A constitutional error is harmless if the appellate court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result in absence of the error." State v. Watt, 160 Wn.2d 626, 635, 160 P.2d 640 (2007). Because Solis-Vazquez did not object to the complained of opinion evidence as improper at trial to raise the issue for the first time on appeal, he must show it was a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. The Court of Appeals analyzed the specific facts of Solis-Vazquez's case and determined that the untainted

¹ Solis-Vazquez does not allege that either of the issues he raises involve an issue of substantial public interest.

evidence at trial was so overwhelming that it necessarily would lead to a finding of guilt. *Slip Opinion* at 7. Because the claimed error met the standard of harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the Court of Appeals did not decided whether the introduction of the opinion evidence was manifest error. By applying the correct standard of review and considering the facts in proper context, the decision was consistent with existing Supreme Court, Court of Appeals, and constitutional case law.

Solis-Vazquez maintains that the Court of Appeals' holding of harmless error conflicts with *State v. Quaale*, 182 Wn.2d 191, 340 P.3d 213 (2014). However, this argument fails to consider important distinctions between this case and his own. In *Quaale*, essentially the only issue was whether the or not a driver was impaired, and the opinion elicited was that he was impaired because of the results of the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test. *Id.* at 200. Here, unlike *Quaale*, with regard to the question of possession with intent to deliver, knowledge of drugs in the car was not the only element at issue. More importantly, there was overwhelming additional evidence of Solis-Vazquez's knowledge including: the location of the large quantity of methamphetamine at his feet, his reaching toward that location even when told not to do so at gunpoint, his providing a false identification, his fleeing from and fighting against the police, the firearms and ammunition found in the car, and the

\$1,933 in cash on his person. Solis-Vazquez fails to show any case where such a quantum of evidence has failed to meet the standard applied by the Court of Appeals. Thus, he fails to establish RAP 13.4(b) (1), (2), or (3).

B. BECAUSE SOLIS-VAZQUEZ'S ATTORNEY OPENED THE DOOR BY INTRODUCING THE DEPUTY'S OPINION AND THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED, HE DID NOT SUFFER MANIFEST ERROR AFFECTING A CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT.

Because Solis-Vazquez opened the door to the deputy's opinion and there was no practical, identifiable consequence on the outcome of the trial, he did not suffer manifest error affecting a constitutional right. "A party who objects to the admission of evidence on one ground at trial may not on appeal assert a different ground for excluding that evidence. And a theory not presented to the trial court may not be considered on appeal." State v. Price, 126 Wn.App. 617, 637, 109 P.3d 27 (2005). Solis-Vazquez did not object on the basis of improper opinion testimony at trial. Thus, unless he can show that he suffered manifest error, he cannot raise the issue for the first time on appeal. Because the Court of Appeals found any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, it did not decide whether the opinion evidence was manifest error. Slip Opinion at 7. For two reasons, the opinion evidence was not manifest error. First, there was no error because Solis-Vazquez's attorney opened the door to the deputy's opinion by eliciting it during cross-examination. Second, any alleged

error was not "manifest" because there is no evidence that the opinion had a practical, identifiable impact on the outcome of the trial.

1. There was no error because Solis-Vazquez opened the door to Deputy Spaulding's opinion.

Because Solis-Vazquez's attorney put Deputy Spaulding's opinion at issue during cross-examination creating a false impression, he opened the door to correcting this false impression during redirect examination. It is well-established that "when a party opens up the subject of inquiry on direct or cross-examination, he contemplates that the rules will permit cross-examination or redirect examination, as the case may be, within the scope of the examination in which the subject matter was first introduced." *State v. Gefeller*, 76 Wn.2d 449, 455, 458 P.2d 17 (1969), *overruled on other grounds* by *State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). When Solis-Vazquez's attorney asked Deputy Spaulding his reason for arresting Slape, this introduced his opinion into evidence and created the impression that Deputy Spaulding believed Slape to be solely responsible for possessing the drugs. After the defense elicited a portion of the deputy's opinion, the State was entitled to correct this false impression.

In *State v. Stevens*, 69 Wn.2d 906, 907, 412 P.2d 360 (1966), the defendant's attorney cross-examined the State's chief witness regarding "mug shots," creating the appearance that the witness had been unable to

pick out a picture of the defendant. On redirect, the prosecutor had the witness testify that she had picked out a photograph resembling the defendant. *Id.* The prosecutor then successfully moved to have the photograph, which was a photograph of the defendant taken by the sheriff's department in Sacramento, California, admitted. *Id.*

On appeal, the defendant argued the court had erred by entering his "mug shot" into evidence. Id. The Supreme Court disagreed explaining: "If the state was not permitted to clarify the testimony of its own witness, as elicited on cross-examination, it would leave the state's case in an untenable position." Id. Without allowing the State to respond to the evidence elicited by the defense, the jury would have been left to believe that the witness had been unable to pick out the defendant in a photograph, thus the first time she had seen him after the robbery was at the preliminary hearing. Id. This would have been untrue, as the witness had selected the defendant's picture out of hundreds of photographs. *Id.* The Court noted: "The purpose of redirect examination is to clarify matters that may tend to be confused by cross-examination and to rehabilitate the witness before the trier of facts[.]" Id. (citing State v. Ward, 144 Wn. 337, 258 P. 22 (1927)). Because the defendant's attorney "opened the door for the admission of the 'mug shot' by his cross-examination," he could not argue against its use to rehabilitate the witness. *Id*.

Relying on Stevens, the Gefeller Court stated:

It would be a curious rule of evidence which allowed one party to bring up a subject, drop it at a point where it might appear advantageous to him, and then bar the other party from further inquiries about it. Rules of evidence are designed to aid in establishing the truth. To close the door after receiving only a part of the evidence not only leaves the matter suspended in air at a point markedly advantageous to the party who opened the door, but might well limit the proof to half-truths.

76 Wn.2d at 455. To avoid this result, a trial court has discretion to admit otherwise inadmissible evidence when a party raises a material issue and the evidence in question bears directly on that issue. *State v. Berg*, 147 Wn.App. 923, 939, 198 P.3d 529 (2008). Our Supreme Court has held that a prosecutor may elicit testimony that would otherwise be inadmissible when the defense opens the door to such testimony. *State v. Jones*, 111 Wn.2d 239, 248-49, 759 P.2d 1183 (1988). The doctrine of opening the door also allows a party to introduce evidence on the same issue to rebut a false impression created by the other party. *Berg*, 147 Wn.App. at 939.

Here, Solis-Vazquez's attorney opened the door to Deputy Spaulding's opinion, when he elicited from the deputy that he arrested Slape "for the drugs located under her seat." RP at 447. By introducing his reason for the arrest, Solis-Vazquez's attorney necessarily introduced Deputy Spaulding's opinion into evidence. The strategy behind this was obvious: Because the drugs were found in a location between where Slape

and Solis-Vazquez were seated, the defense attorney sought to create the impression that Deputy Spaulding believed the drugs were possessed by Slape rather than Solis-Vazquez. To do so he elicited that the deputy had arrested Slape for the evidence that was found, but did not elicit the fact that Solis-Vazquez was also arrested on this same basis. Consistent with *Stevens*, once Solis-Vazquez's attorney opened the door by introducing Deputy Spaulding's opinion, creating a false impression, the State was entitled to introduce evidence within the scope of this line of questioning to rebut this false impression. For this reason, there was no error.

2. Because there was no practical, identifiable consequence on the outcome of the trial the alleged error was not manifest error.

Because Solis-Vazquez did not raise the objection to the evidence admitted that he now raises on appeal, the issue was waived. "No case of this court has held that a manifest error infringing a constitutional right necessarily exists where a witness expresses an opinion on an ultimate issue of fact that is not objected to at trial." State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007) (emphasis in original). At trial, Deputy Spaulding expressed his opinion that the people in the car had knowledge of the drugs. Solis-Vazquez did not object on the grounds of improper

opinion.² Even if this was an improper opinion, it did not create a manifest error affecting a constitutional right, allowing Solis-Vazquez to raise the issue for the first time on appeal.

"The general rule in Washington is that a party's failure to raise an issue at trial waives the issue on appeal unless the party can show the presence of a 'manifest error affecting a constitutional right.'" State v. Robinson, 171 Wn.2d 292, 304, 253 P.3d 84 (2011). The manifest error analysis has been applied to opinion evidence in circumstances similar to those presented here. In State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 595, 183 P.3d 267 (2008), witnesses for the State on multiple occasions provided their opinion as to the ultimate fact at issue in the case—whether the defendant had possesses methamphetamine with intent to manufacture. Id. at 588. After finding the opinion testimony given there was improper, the Court analyzed whether Montgomery could challenge the improper opinion testimony for the first time on appeal as a manifest error affecting a constitutional right under RAP 2.5(a). Id. at 595. The Court explained: "This exception is a narrow one, and we have found constitutional error to be manifest only when the error caused actual prejudice or practical and identifiable consequences." Id.

² The specific objection made was: "Foundation. Calls for a narrative." RP at 457.

The Court then stated: "Important to the determination of whether opinion testimony prejudices a defendant is whether the jury was properly instructed." Id. at 595. The Court noted that in the prior case of Kirkman, it had dealt with alleged improper testimony as to witness credibility. *Id.* (citing Kirkman, 150 Wn.2d at 937). Because the jury instructions stated that the jurors were the sole judges of witness credibility, were not bound by expert opinions, and there was no indication that the jury had been unfairly influenced, it was presumed that the jurors had followed the court's instructions. Id. 595-96. Because virtually identical instructions were given in Montgomery's case, the Court presumed the jury followed the court's instructions as it had in Kirkman. Id. at 596. The Court also noted that on one occasion Montgomery had objected to a question that went to the ultimate legal question and this objection was sustained, indicating that had Montgomery raised objections to the other instances of improper opinion testimony, they would have been sustained and curative instructions given if requested. Id. Because the record did not provide any indication that Montgomery suffered actual prejudice he did not suffer a manifest error affecting a constitutional right.

Here, as in *Montgomery* and *Kirkman*, the jurors were instructed they were "the sole judges of the credibility of each witness" and if a witness had "special training, education, or experience," they were

"not...required to accept his or her opinion." CP at 28, 33. The jurors were also instructed that if any evidence was ruled inadmissible not to "discuss that evidence during your deliberations or consider it in reaching your verdict." CP at 27. There is no evidence the jury failed to follow these instructions. Even if Deputy Spaulding expressed an improper opinion, it did not establish manifest error affecting a constitutional right, because, as in *Montgomery*, there is no evidence of actual prejudice. By properly instructing the jury, the court avoided the risk of the jury believing it was required to accept Deputy Spaulding's opinion.

Solis-Vazquez maintains that the opinion evidence was of constitutional error, primarily because this testimony came from a police officer. While there is always a concern that jurors will give the testimony of an officer undue weight, to show a manifest error requires more than speculation as to how jurors received testimony. Rather it requires a showing of actual prejudice. None was shown here.

C. THE COURT OF APPEALS' FINDING OF SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S UNANIMOUS FINDINGS AS TO THE FIREARM ENHANCEMENTS DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANOTHER DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT OR RAISE A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW.

When all reasonable inferences from the case are drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against Solis-Vazquez, there was sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdicts that Solis Vazquez or an accomplice was armed with the firearms found in the car. The Washington Supreme Court has stated:

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